2001

# John Richards v. State of Utah Department of Corrections : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over the above-entitled matter pursuant to § 78-2-2 UTAH CODE ANN. (1953) as amended and by transfer from the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to § 78-2-2(4) and Rule 3 Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that the vocational training program administered by the Division of Correctional Industries as a profit oriented business conducted outside of prison facilities enjoys governmental immunity because it was a) a governmental function and b) the injuries “arose out of” or occurred “in connection” with John Richards’ incarceration at the Utah State Prison?

2. Did the trial court err in ruling that John Richards may not bring an action against the State of Utah for violation of his rights under the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

3. Did the trial court err in ruling that John Richards Complaint failed to state a claim for damages for a violation of Article I, Section 9, of the Utah Constitution.

Each of the issues presented for review is to be decided under the following Standard of Review. When reviewing a judgment entered on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court of Appeals is obliged to construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and indulge all reasonable inferences in its favor. Heiner v. S.J. Groves & Sons Co., 790 P.2d 107 (Utah App. 1990). Additionally, a motion

to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure will be affirmed only if it appears to a certainty that the plaintiff would not be entitled to relief under any state of facts which could be proven in support of its claims. Prows v. State, 822 P.2d 764 (Utah 1991). Also, when reviewing a dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the court must accept the material allegations of the complaint as true, and the trial court's ruling should only be affirmed if it clearly appears that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of its claim. Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622 (Utah 1990). The trial court should receive no deference as a Rule 12(b)(6) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure dismissal is a question of law, and reviewed under a correctness standard. St. Benedict's Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict's Hosp., 811 P.2d 194 (Utah 1991).

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION AND STATUTES WHOSE  
INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE ON APPEAL**

**UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION**

**Amendment VIII**

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.

**UTAH CONSTITUTION**

**Article I, Section 9. [Excessive bail and fines -- Cruel punishments.]**

Excessive bail shall not be required; excessive fines shall not be imposed; nor shall cruel and unusual punishments be inflicted. Persons arrested or imprisoned shall not be treated with unnecessary rigor.

**Utah's Governmental Immunity Act**

63-30-10, UTAH CODE ANN.      Waiver of immunity for injury caused by negligent act or omission of employee -- Exceptions. - Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of employment except if the injury arises out of, in connection with, or results from: . . .

(10)    the incarceration of any person in any state prison, county or city jail, or other place of legal confinement;

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This action involves a serious permanent injury suffered by John Richards while participating in a vocational training program administered by Utah Correctional Industries. John Richards was an inmate at Utah State Prison in its minimum security facility in Bluffdale, Utah. Mr. Richards participated in a work release program providing vocational training and administered by Utah Correctional Industries. Utah Correctional Industries is a for profit division of the Utah State Department of Corrections organized under the authority of the Utah Correctional Industries Act § 64-13a-1 et seq.

Pursuant to § 63-13a-2, the Utah State Legislature created a Division of Correctional Industries as a profit oriented organization designed to generate revenue for its operations and capital investment and assuming responsibility for training offenders in general work habits, work skills, and specific training skills that increase their employment prospects when released and provide an environment for the operation of a correctional industries that closely resembles the environment for the business operations of a private corporate entity.

At the time of his injury, Mr. Richards was participating in the Utah Correctional Industries program at Waste Management of Utah's facility in West Jordan. The program participants were unsupervised and untrained in the operation of heavy equipment and machinery. While at Waste Management's facility, Mr. Richards sustained a serious injury when a forklift driven by an unlicensed, untrained inmate overturned onto his leg resulting in the amputation of one foot and serious injury to his other foot.

John Richards brought suit against the Waste Management of Utah and against Utah Correctional Industries, a division of the State of Utah Department of Corrections alleging negligence claims against the Division of Correctional Industries, and claims for violation of his Eighth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution and under Article I, Section 9 of the Utah State Constitution. The State of Utah Department of Corrections, Division of Correctional Industries filed its Motion to Dismiss the Complaint of John Richards against it. The trial court Judge L.A. Dever granted the State of Utah's Motion to Dismiss without a Memorandum Decision dismissing Count I and Count III of John Richards' Complaint against the State of Utah Department of Corrections Division of Correctional Industries and certifying that the dismissal of the Complaint was a final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure on November 6, 2001. Plaintiff, John Richards, appealed the dismissal of his Complaint against the State of Utah Department of Corrections Division of Correctional Industries on December 5, 2001.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

For purposes of determining the correctness of the trial court's decision in this matter, the following facts must be accepted as true as alleged in Plaintiff's Complaint.

1. John Richards was an inmate of the Utah Department of Corrections at the Utah State Prison under the care, custody, and subject to the supervision of the Utah State Department of Corrections. (R.3).

2. On July 17, 2000, John Richards was engaged in a training program administered by the Division of Correctional Industries at a private facility owned and operated by Waste Management located at 8652 South 4000 West, West Jordan, Utah. (R.3).

3. The Division of Correctional Industries allowed inmates participating in the vocational training to operate equipment, including a forklift, without appropriate training, certification, or any supervision. A forklift, being operated by a fellow inmate of the Department of Corrections, overturned onto Plaintiff, John Richards. (R.3).

4. As a result of injuries received by the overturned forklift, John Richards has serious and permanent injuries to his legs, including the subsequent amputation of his left foot. (R.3).

5. The Utah State Department of Corrections Division of Correctional Industries knew or had reason to know that the inmates participating in the vocational training program were not properly trained or certified to operate forklifts. Utah Correctional Industries failed to properly train and supervise the inmates during their training program or require them to receive proper training and certification in the use of forklifts, which created a dangerous work environment. (R.4).

6. The Utah State Department of Corrections, Division of Correctional Industries failed to warn John Richards about the dangerous conditions that were created by the lack of any supervision, training, or certification of the inmates participating in the program. John Richards had a legitimate expectation that if you participated in the vocational training

program for the Division of Correctional Industries, that they would create a safe and suitable training environment. The Division of Correctional Industries and Department of Correction failed to implement and provide appropriate and adequate training to inmates in the operation of the forklift and failed to require proper certification of the inmates before they operated the forklift. (R.3).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Utah correctional Industries does not perform a core governmental function and therefore does not enjoy governmental immunity. Rather, Utah Correctional Industries is a proprietary vocational training program organized to generate profits. It does not perform a function essential to government nor does it provide a service that only the State may provide.

Even if Utah Correctional Industries performs a core governmental function, immunity for John Richards' injuries has been waived § 63-30-10 UTAH CODE ANN. waives immunity for the negligent acts or omissions of an employee of a governmental entity. While John Richards was still completing his sentence at the Utah State Prison minimum security facility at the time he was injured, his injuries did "arise out of" or "in connection with" any incarceration in the prison.

John Richards was injured while working at Waste Management, a private business located in West Jordan, Utah. He was not confined or incarcerated at the time of his injury. Mr. Richards' injury did not arise out of the operation of the prison or is it connected to the



operation of the prison. Mr. Richards was unsupervised, unrestricted, and untrained while participating in an off-site vocational training program of Utah Correctional Industries. Therefore, no exception to the waiver of immunity applies to Utah Correctional Industries' activities in this case.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution protect John Richards from cruel and unusual punishment, including the deliberate indifference to the health and safety of prison inmates. By knowingly placing John Richards in a dangerous work environment with untrained, unqualified, and unsupervised inmates operating dangerous heavy equipment, Utah Correctional Industries violated the constitutional protections guaranteed Mr. Richards. As a result, Mr. Richards suffered serious permanent injuries.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution are self-executing provisions that do not require separate enabling legislation to bring a claim for damages resulting from the violation. If the Court dismisses Mr. Richards' other claims against Utah Correctional Industries, he has no other available remedy and is therefore entitled to bring his damage claims for violation of his constitutional rights. The trial court erred in dismissing Mr. Richards' Complaint against Utah Correctional Industries.

## ARGUMENT

The Complaint contains three causes of action; (1) negligence against the Utah Correctional Industries; (2) negligence against Waste Management of Utah; and (3) constitutional violations against Utah Correctional Industries under the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution. The Defendant, State of Utah Department of Correction Division of Correctional Industries, filed its Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the first and the third claims, alleging that the Complaint of John Richards failed to state a claim against the Division of Correctional Industries. The trial court erred in dismissing John Richards' Complaint against the Division of Correctional Industries.

### **I. PLAINTIFF'S FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION IS NOT BARRED BY THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.**

Utah Correctional Industries does not enjoy any immunity from suit under Utah's Governmental Immunity Act. Section 63-30-3 UTAH CODE ANN. specifically provides "(1) except as may be otherwise provided in this chapter all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, . . . ." (Emphasis added). Utah Courts have consistently held that when a governmental agency engages in a non-governmental function or "non-core" governmental function, it does not enjoy immunity.

**A. Utah Correctional Industries Does Not Engage in a Governmental Function and Therefore Does Not Enjoy Immunity.**

In 1980, the Utah Supreme Court enunciated a two-part test for determining if a governmental activity enjoys governmental immunity in Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230 (Utah 1980). The Standiford court identified a distinction between a core governmental function and a non-core governmental function. If a governmental activity is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency, or if it is essential to the core of governmental activity, it is a core governmental activity and immunity normally applies. However, if it is not a core governmental activity, the state will not enjoy immunity in that activity. 605 P.2d 1230, 1236-1237 (Utah 1980). The activity in question in this case is not a core governmental function. In Johnson v. Salt Lake City Corp., 629 P.2d 432 (Utah 1981), the Utah Supreme Court explained this further stating:

The first part of the Standiford test - activity of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency — does not refer to what government *may* do, but rather to what government alone *must* do. . . . [T]he second part of the Standiford test - essential to the core of governmental activity — which refers to those activities not unique in themselves but essential to the performance of those activities that are uniquely governmental.

629 P.2d 432, 434.

Ledfors v. Emery County School District, 849 P.2d 1162 (Utah 1993) also recognized the necessity of finding the existence of a core governmental function before a claim of immunity is justified. Ledfors' first requirement in a three step analysis to determine if the government is entitled to immunity, asked "was the activity the entity performed a

governmental function and therefore immunized from suit by the general grant of immunity contained in § 63-30-3?” 849 P.2d at 1166 (Utah 1993). The Court recognized in Condemarin v. University Hospital, 775 P.2d 348 (Utah 1989), that the Utah Constitution imposes limits on a legislature’s authority to immunize all governmental actions from suit. That immunity is limited to a governmental function. The Supreme Court reiterated the limitation on governmental immunity in Lyon v. Burton, 5 P.3d 616 (Utah 2000). The Court recognized that the threshold question in determining whether there is governmental immunity pursuant to § 63-30-3(1) is to determine whether the activity is a “governmental function.” If the activity is a proprietary or a non-essential governmental function, then the Constitution prevents that immunity from applying.

The first step in the analysis then is to determine if the Division of Correctional Industries performs an activity of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency. The second part of the Standiford test is to determine whether the activity is essential to a core governmental activity. The Division of Correctional Industries fails on both prongs of the test.

The Division of Correctional Industries’ enabling statute states:

It is the intent of the Legislature in this chapter to:

- (1) create a Division of Correctional Industries which:
  - (a) is a self supported organization;
  - (b) is profit-oriented;
  - (c) generates revenue for its operations and capital investment;
- and

- (d) assumes responsibility for training offenders in general work habits, work skills, and specific training skills that increase their employment prospects when released;
- (2) provide an environment for the operation of correctional industries that closely resembles the environment for the business operations of a private corporate entity;
- (3) make the Division of Correctional Industries responsible for and accountable to the Legislature and to the governor for correctional industries programs in this state.

§ 64-13a-2 UTAH CODE ANN.

It is clear that the Division of Correctional Industries did not act in a core governmental function. Its motive is expressly stated as “for profit.” Its work is not work that the “government alone *must* do,” nor is the training program, essential to a core governmental activity. Stepping into the private sector to provide inmates at the Utah State Prison vocational training is not a core governmental function. It is also not an activity that “government alone must do.” While operation of a prison may be a core governmental activity, the training of inmates in “general work habits, work skills and specific training skills” is not essential to the operation of the prison. The Division of Correctional Industries’ training program, therefore, completely fails to meet the requirements for immunity set forth by Standiford and Johnson. Because of this, the State, in this non-core governmental activity, is not entitled to immunity. In addition, the language of the enabling statute requires that the Division of Correctional Industries’ operation “closely resemble[] the environment for the business operations of a private corporate entity,” which includes responsibility for injuries

due to improper conditions, improper procedure, improper administration, failure to adequately train and supervise, or any other form of negligence.

Other factors, which the courts have identified to use in determining if the activity is a core governmental function, include the mandatory nature of the government activity. Thomas v. Clearfield City, 642 P.2d 737 (Utah 1982). Certainly, it is not mandatory that the government compete in the market as a for-profit vocational training agency. A second factor is whether the activity can be performed by an entity other than the government. If it can, and such training services certainly can, then the activity is not an essential governmental function entitled to immunity. Duncan v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 842 P.2d 832, 839 (Utah 1992) (J. Stewart dissent). Associated with these considerations is the principle that government, in its proprietary activities, is not protected by immunity. “Where a public body, which would otherwise be entitled to sovereign immunity, engages in activity of a commercial or proprietary character, the protection does not exist.” Nestman v. South Davis Water Imp. Dist., 398 P.2d 203, 205 (Utah 1965). The enabling legislation for Utah Correctional Industries makes it clear it is simply a commercial enterprise of the State of Utah providing a non-essential, proprietary function not entitled to immunity.

**B. The Plaintiff’s injury did not “arise out of” or occur “in connection with” the Plaintiff’s incarceration at the Utah State Prison.**

Utah Correctional Industries claims immunity under § 63-30-10(10) UTAH CODE ANN., which makes inapplicable a waiver of immunity for a negligent act or omission of an employee “if the injury arises out of, in connection with, or results from: (10) the

incarceration of any person in any state prison, county or city jail, or other place of legal confinement.”

Contrary to the Defendant’s contentions, simply because a person is confined at night in a minimum security facility, every event that occurs while serving his sentence does not “arise out of” or is necessarily “connected with” his incarceration. The terms “arise out of” and “in connection with,” are not without limits. The injury of Mr. Richards does not “arise out of” or “in connection with” Mr. Richards’ incarceration.

The Utah Supreme Court in Taylor v. Ogden School Dist., 927 P.2d 159 (Utah 1996), had an opportunity to interpret the use of the words “arising out of” in a similar exception to the waiver of immunity where the injury “arises out of assault.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-30-10(1)(b). The court in Taylor acknowledged that the words “arises out of” import a concept of causation. Citing to National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Co. v. Western Casualty and Surety Co., 557 P.2d 961, 963 (Utah 1978)

The words “arising out of” are very broad, general and comprehensive. They are commonly understood to mean originating from, growing out of, or flowing from, and required only that there be some causal relationship between the injury and the risk [provided for].

557 P.2d at 963.

In other words, the court stated the injuries must have originated from, grown out of, or flowed from the assault.

Likewise, in this case, Mr. Richards’ injuries must have originated from, grown out of, or flowed from his incarceration. While Mr. Richards was still fulfilling his sentence

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