2001

# John Richards v. State of Utah Department of Corrections : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This issue was not raised in the trial court, but is raised for the first time on appeal.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** A lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time by either party or by the court. Weiser v. Union Pacific R.R. Co., 932 P.2d 596, 597 (Utah 1997). While this issue was not raised in the trial court, this Court can affirm the decision of the trial court on this related, alternative, ground. Buehner Block Company v. UWC Associates, 752 P.2d 892, 894-95 (Utah 1988); State v. South, 924 P.2d 354, 355 n.3 (Utah 1996).

4. The plaintiff failed to allege a cause of action under the Utah Constitution for unnecessary rigor where the facts alleged in the complaint state only a claim for negligence.

This issue was raised by the State in its motion to dismiss (R. 34-35, 43-48, 81-84) and the trial court granted this motion, in part, based upon this issue. R. 90, 92-93.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** This matter was decided below upon the State's motion to dismiss. Because this issue raises only questions of law, the Court should give the trial courts' ruling no deference and review it under a correctness standard. Zion's First National Bank, 942 P.2d at 326.

## **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS & STATUTES**

### **U.S. Const. amend. VIII [Bail - Punishment]**

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.

### **Utah Const. art. I, § 9 [Excessive bail and fines - Cruel punishments.]**

Excessive bail shall not be required; excessive fines shall not be imposed; nor shall cruel and unusual punishments be inflicted. Persons arrested or imprisoned shall not be treated with unnecessary rigor.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-2(4) **Definitions.** (Supp. 2001)

(4)(a) "Governmental function" means any act, failure to act, operation, function, or undertaking of a governmental entity whether or not the act, failure to act, operation, function, or undertaking is characterized as governmental, proprietary, a core governmental function, unique to government, undertaken in a dual capacity, essential to or not essential to a government or governmental function, or could be performed by private enterprise or private persons.

(b) A "governmental function" may be performed by any department, agency, employee, agent, or officer of a governmental entity.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3(1) **Immunity of governmental entities from suit.** (1997)

(1) Except as may be otherwise provided in this chapter, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, governmentally-owned hospital, nursing home, or other governmental health care facility, and from an approved medical, nursing, or other professional health care clinical training program conducted in either public or private facilities.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 **Waiver of immunity for injury caused by negligent act or omission of employee - Exceptions.** (Supp. 2001)

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of employment except if the injury arises out of, in connection with, or results from:

...

(10) the incarceration of any person in any state prison, county or city jail, or other place of legal confinement;

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

John Richards brought this action against the State and Waste Management of Utah, Inc. R. 1-10. Richards alleged that he had been seriously injured as the result of an accident that occurred while he was involved in vocational training as an inmate of the Utah State Prison. R. 3, ¶¶ 7-11. He sought recovery against the State for the alleged

negligence of its employees and for the alleged infliction of cruel and unusual punishment upon an inmate. R. 4-5, ¶¶ 14-20; 7-9, ¶¶ 30-42.

Richard's notice of claim stated only claims for negligence and violation of federal law. R. 14-15. The notice of claim did not state any intent to bring an action under Utah Const. art. I, § 9.

The State filed a motion to dismiss this action on August 6, 2001. R. 34-50. This motion was granted by the trial court. R. 90-94. In its order of November 6, 2001, the trial court, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b), expressly determined that there was no just reason to delay and certified the dismissal of the State as a final judgment. R. 92-93. The plaintiff filed his notice of appeal on December 5, 2001. R. 95-96.

### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

"At all times material hereto, John Richards was an inmate" in the custody of the State. R. 1, ¶ 1. He "was an inmate at the Utah State Prison under the custody, care, and subject to the supervision of the Utah State Department of Corrections." R. 3, ¶ 7. At the time of his alleged accident, Richards was "engaged in a training program administered" by the State. R. 3, ¶ 8. Plaintiff alleged in his complaint that a forklift, operated by a fellow inmate, overturned onto the plaintiff causing his injuries. R. 3, ¶¶ 10-12.

Plaintiff's negligence claim against the State is based on allegations that the State failed to properly train and supervise the inmates during their participation in the training program and failed to warn the plaintiff of these dangerous conditions. R. 4, ¶¶ 15-19.

The plaintiff's constitutional claims are based upon this same allegation of a failure to properly supervise inmates in the use of a forklift that they were not properly trained to operate. R. 8, ¶¶ 34-36.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The plaintiff alleged that he was injured when a forklift overturned in a prison training program because the inmates were inadequately supervised and trained. Plaintiff's negligence claim was properly dismissed because immunity has been retained for injuries arising out of, connected with or resulting from the incarceration of any person in any state prison. It is undisputed that the plaintiff, and the operator of the forklift, were inmates of the Utah State Prison participating in a prison program. This meets the statutory definition of "governmental function" and such immunity is not unconstitutional.

Plaintiff, admitting that his federal constitutional claim cannot be brought under section 1983, instead asks this Court to create a Bivens type federal action against the State of Utah. Bivens actions can only be brought against federal employees. Neither the government nor private corporations and citizens can be made defendants in such actions. Further, the State of Utah would be entitled to absolute sovereign immunity.

The plaintiff's notice of claim failed to identify any intention to bring a state constitutional claim. Thus the court has no jurisdiction to consider such a claim where the plaintiff has failed to strictly comply with the notice of claim requirement.



Finally, the plaintiff's claims of failure to adequately train and supervise inmates involved in a prison training program do not arise to the level of a violation of either Utah's cruel and unusual punishment or its unnecessary rigor provisions. The plaintiff, both in the trial court and on appeal, failed to present any clearly established law that would show that such negligence would violate either of these provisions.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES AROSE OUT OF, IN CONNECTION WITH OR RESULTED FROM HIS INCARCERATION AT THE UTAH STATE PRISON**

The plaintiff's first cause of action against the State sounds in tort. R. 4-5. The State of Utah's immunity has not been waived for intentional torts. Atiya v. Salt Lake County, 852 P.2d 1007, 1011 (Utah App. 1993). The only possible waiver of immunity that might be applicable to the plaintiff's tort claim would be that found in Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 (Supp. 2001) for the negligence of government employees.

The Utah Supreme Court has applied a three-step approach to determining whether or not immunity is applicable to a specific case. Ledfors v. Emery County Sch. Dist., 849 P.2d 1162, 1164 (Utah 1993). The first step is to determine whether the activity performed by the entity is a governmental function. The second step requires a determination of whether there is an applicable waiver of immunity. If such a waiver exists, the third step is to determine whether immunity has been retained by an applicable exception to the waiver of immunity.

## **A. The Complained of Actions were a Governmental Function**

The Governmental Immunity Act expressly defines all actions by governmental entities as being governmental functions.

(4)(a) "Governmental function" means any act, failure to act, operation, function, or undertaking of a governmental entity whether or not the act, failure to act, operation, function, or undertaking is characterized as governmental, proprietary, a core governmental function, unique to government, undertaken in a dual capacity, essential to or not essential to a government or governmental function, or could be performed by private enterprise or private persons.

(b) A "governmental function" may be performed by any department, agency, employee, agent, or officer of a governmental entity.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-2(4) (Supp. 2001). This definition is very inclusive. The operation of a training program for incarcerated individuals comes within the statutory definition of "governmental function" and the first step is thereby satisfied.

Instead of even mentioning the statutory definition of what is a governmental function, the plaintiff relies upon an outdated and overturned judicial interpretation of what that phrase means. In Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230, 1236 (Utah 1980), relied upon by the plaintiff, the court established the "core governmental function" test. This test was adopted as a matter of statutory interpretation of the phrase "governmental function" in the immunity act. But, as noted in Ledfors, the 1987 statutory definition of a "governmental function" was enacted with the intent of rejecting the Standiford test.

In 1987, the legislature broadened the definition of "governmental function" in section 63-30-2(4) to include all governmental operations that under our

prior case law construing the pre-1987 statutory language, conceivably could have been characterized as ineligible for immunity. Comparing the language in our pre-1987 case law with the language of the 1987 amendment leaves no doubt that our pre-1987 cases were the target of this amendment.

Ledfors, 849 P.2d 1162, 1164 (Utah 1993). In Ledfors, the court applied the statutory definition of "governmental function" in lieu of the rejected pre-1987 case law definition found in Standiford. Therefore the plaintiff's reliance on the Standiford test is misplaced.

Nor is there any constitutional infirmity in applying this statutory definition to the State of Utah and its Department of Corrections. Under the courts' interpretation of the open courts clause (Utah Const. art. I, § 11), the first question is whether the challenged statute has abrogated a remedy that existed at the time the statute was enacted. Day v. State of Utah, 980 P.2d 1171, 1184 (Utah 1999).

It is undisputed that at no time did a common law cause of action exist to sue the State of Utah. Tiede v. State of Utah, 915 P.2d 500, 503-4 (Utah 1996) (immunity of the State of Utah and its Department of Corrections does not violate state constitution). Sovereign immunity was a settled feature of the common law. From the time the common law was adopted by Utah until the present day, Utah's common law has recognized the ongoing viability of sovereign immunity. The State had absolute immunity at common law and could not be sued without its consent. All action undertaken by the State of Utah was considered to be a governmental function. See Tiede; Campbell v. Pack, 15 Utah 2d 161, 389 P.2d 464, 465 (1964) (school district, as

an agent of the State, partakes of the state's absolute sovereign immunity); Bingham v. Bd. of Educ., 118 Utah 582, 223 P.2d 432, 435 (1950) (all acts of a school board, as an agent of the State, are governmental functions and it is unlike a municipal corporation that has a dual character and can exercise either governmental or proprietary functions); State v. Dist. Court, Fourth Jud. Dist., 78 P.2d 502, 504 (Utah 1937) (state immune from both damage and injunctive claims at common law); Campbell Bldg. Co. v. State Road Comm'n, 70 P.2d 857, 861 (Utah 1937); Decorso v. Thomas, 50 P.2d 951, 952 (Utah 1935); Wilkinson v. State, 134 P. 626, 630 (Utah 1913).

For these reasons, the trial court was correct when it held that the State's conduct challenged by the plaintiff in his first cause of action was a governmental function for which immunity has been retained.

**B. The Challenged Actions Arose out of, in Connection with, and Resulted From the Plaintiff's Incarceration in the State Prison**

The plaintiff claims that the waiver of immunity found in Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 (2001) is applicable. This statute waives immunity for injuries proximately caused by the negligence of government employees, unless the injury "arises out of, in connection with, or results from" one of a list of exceptions to this waiver. One such exception in subsection 10 is for injuries arising out of, connected with, or resulting from "the incarceration of any person in any state prison." Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(10) (Supp. 2001).

Utah's courts have repeatedly held that the statutory retention of immunity applies regardless of the particular type of negligence that the plaintiff may claim, or how the plaintiff may style his claims. The important question is not the type of negligence alleged, but rather whether the injuries arose out, are connected with or result from the incarceration of any person in the state prison. In Ledfors, the court explained:

Again, our prior cases have looked to whether the injury asserted "arose out of" conduct or a situation specifically described in one of the subparts of 63-30-10; if it did, then immunity is preserved. We have rejected claims that have reflected attempts to evade these statutory categories by recharacterizing the supposed cause of the injury . . . .

In sum, the Ledforses ignore the fact that the structure of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, especially section 63-30-10, focuses on the conduct or situation out of which the injury arose, not on the theory of liability crafted by the plaintiff or the type of negligence alleged. Because Richie's injuries arose out of a battery, we cannot ignore the plain meaning and fair import of section 63-30-10 of the Act.

Id. at 1166-67 (citing Sheffield v. Turner, 21 Utah 2d 314, 316, 445 P.2d 367, 368 (1968)). See also Maddocks v. Salt Lake City Corp., 740 P.2d 1337, 1340 (Utah 1987) (rejecting argument that assault and battery exception did not apply to claim that two police officers negligently failed to intervene to prevent beating of plaintiff by another officer).

The Utah Supreme Court reached the same conclusion in Malcolm v. State, 878 P.2d 1144, 1146-47 (Utah 1994); S.H. v. State, 865 P.2d 1363, 1364-65 (Utah 1993); Petersen v. Bd. of Educ., 855 P.2d 241, 242-43 (Utah 1993); and Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 240-41 (Utah 1993). In each of these decisions, the court

reiterated that the question of whether the retention of immunities under section 10 is applicable is determined not by considering the type of negligence alleged, but rather looking to whether or not the complained-of injuries arose out of one of the listed situations or conducts found in section 10.

Finally, in Taylor v. Ogden School District, 927 P.2d 159 (Utah 1996), the court expressly defined what was meant by the statutory phrase "arose out of."

Taylor maintains that the assault exception should not apply because Zachary's injuries have a greater link to the dangerous window in the restroom than to Trenton's assault. However, "arises out of" within the assault exception "is a phrase of much broader significance than "caused by." Under the phrase's ordinary meaning, the assault need not be the sole cause of the injury to except the governmental entity from liability for the injury. The language demands "only that there be *some* causal relationship between the injury and the risk" provided for.

Taylor, 927 P.2d at 163 (citations omitted).

Most recently, the Utah Supreme Court held that injuries received from an avalanche caused by the naturally occurring snow pack on federal land "arose out of" a "natural condition on publicly owned or controlled lands" (Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(11) (Supp. 2001)).

Further, Blackner's injuries arose out of the snow pack and the first avalanche. Under the statute, the "arise out of" language requires only that there be some causal nexus between the risk and the resulting injury. In other words, but for the snow pack and the first avalanche, Blackner would not have suffered injury. Here, were it not for the first avalanche, Payne would not have stopped Blackner and others from proceeding up the canyon. In addition, if the snow pack had not been situated on public land above Route 210, it would not have resulted in either avalanche, which

caused Payne to stop traffic from moving up the canyon and directly occasioned Blackner's injuries.

Blackner v. State of Utah, 2002 UT 44, ¶15 (citations omitted) (a copy is attached hereto as Addendum A).

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